

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Journal of Organometallic Chemistry 692 (2007) 5532-5540

www.elsevier.com/locate/jorganchem

Review

Immobilization of organorhenium(VII) oxides

Kavita R. Jain, Fritz E. Kühn *

Molecular Catalysis, Department of Chemistry, Technische Universität München, Lichtenbergstrasse 4, D-85747 Garching bei München, Germany

Received 6 August 2007; received in revised form 18 September 2007; accepted 24 September 2007 Available online 29 September 2007

Abstract

In the last decade considerable progress has been made in research on organorhenium(VII) oxide catalysts, particularly with respect to methyltrioxorhenium(VII) (MTO). Heterogeneous systems have been developed with particular emphasis on the supporting systems including inorganic and organic carrier materials. As a result efficient and reasonably selective catalysts are now available for a variety of catalytic reactions like olefin epoxidation in particular and other oxidation reactions, metathesis, etc. Besides the MTO/UHP system, polymer supports for the organometallic catalysts are now also successfully applicable. The systems exhibit in several cases the required properties of stability, selectivity, activity and recyclability.

© 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Catalysis; Heterogenisation; Immobilization; Oxidation; Rhenium

Contents

1.	Introduction			5533
2.	Heterogenisation of MTO and derivatives			5533
	2.1.	Inorganic supports		5533
		2.1.1.	2.1.1. Unfunctionalised inorganic oxides	
		2.1.2.	Functionalised silica matrices.	5534
	2.2.	Organic supports.		5535
		2.2.1.	System MTO/UHP (urea hydroperoxide)	5535
		2.2.2.	Organic polymers	5536
	2.3.	Ionic liquids		5537 5538
	2.4. Mesoporous alumina		orous alumina	
	2.5.	Resins		5538
3.	Conclusion			5538
	References			5539

Abbreviations: Acac, acetylacetonate; bpy, 2,2'-bipyridyl; Cp, cyclopentadiene; dppa, bis(diphenylphosphino)amine; Et, ethyl; EXAFS, extended X-ray absorption fine structure; IR, infra red; MCM, mobile crystalline material; Me, methyl; MTO, methyltrioxorhenium; NMR, nuclear magnetic resonance; PBI, polybenzimidazole; PEO, polyethylene oxide; Ph, phenyl; PPO, polypropylene oxide; PS, polystyrene; PSHPAMP, polystyrene-divinylbenzene resin carrying an *N*-(2-hydroxypropyl)-2-aminomethylpyridine ligand; PVP, poly(4-vinylpyridine); PVPN, poly(4-vinylpyridine-*N*-oxide); RT, room temperature; EMIM, 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium; RTIL, room temperature ionic liquid; BMIM, 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium; TBHP, *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide; UHP, urea hydroperoxide.

Corresponding author. Fax: +49 (0) 89 289 13473.

E-mail address: fritz.kuehn@ch.tum.de (F.E. Kühn).

⁰⁰²²⁻³²⁸X/\$ - see front matter @ 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jorganchem.2007.09.015

1. Introduction

In industries heterogeneous catalysis is still far more wide spread than homogeneous catalysis. This fact is at first glance astonishing, when considering the numerous advantages of homogeneous catalysis, among them usually far milder reaction conditions, higher selectivity, defined reaction sites, comparatively easy ligand modification. However, recycling of a homogeneous catalyst and product–catalyst separation often pose serious problems, preventing large-scale industrial application.

To overcome these shortcomings and to combine the advantages of homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysis, increasing interest has been given to the immobilization of homogeneous catalysts rather than strictly homogeneous catalysis during the recent years. Homogeneous catalysts are immobilised using various carrier materials including ionic liquids, polymers and mesoporous materials.

In this work, the different techniques employed for the anchoring of organorhenium(VII) oxides on various supports are summarised. An overview of these systems particularly with respect to their application in oxidation catalysis is described.

Methyltrioxorhenium(VII) (MTO) was first described almost 30 years ago [1]. Since then it has been extensively studied as its synthesis became increasingly easy and so the compound is meanwhile available in excellent yields and large quantities [2–5]. It is particularly useful in oxidation chemistry and shows high activity for epoxidations, C-H and Si-H oxidations but it can also be applied in other types of catalytic reactions such as olefin metathesis and aldevhyde olefinations [6,7]. Few other organometallic transition metal compounds show even remotely comparable versatility [8]. Another advantage of MTO besides its ease of production is that it activates hydrogen peroxide - which is environmentally benign since water is the only by-product of the reaction. The drawbacks of the MTO/H₂O₂ oxidation system lie in an appreciable formation of side products, diols in particular, and facile decomposition of MTO to perrhenates. These drawbacks can be overcome for several reactions by adding large excesses of aromatic Lewis bases or stoichiometric amounts of certain Schiff bases [9-11].

2. Heterogenisation of MTO and derivatives

Significant efforts have been dedicated in the recent years to the immobilisation of MTO on various supports such as niobia [12–17], zeolites [18–24], urea [25–30], polymers [31–36] and ionic liquids [37]. The immobilised catalysts were evaluated for their activity in various reactions like olefin epoxidation, silane oxidation, metathesis and Baeyer–Villiger reactions.

2.1. Inorganic supports

2.1.1. Unfunctionalised inorganic oxides

MTO supported on acidic metal oxides was discovered to form metathesis catalysts that are active without addi-

tives even for functionalised olefins [30]. Standard supports are zeolites and niobia (Nb_2O_5), and the activity was reportedly related to the surface acidity [38].

2.1.1.1. Niobia. Niobia supported MTO has been prepared either through sublimation of the catalyst on to the support or by the impregnation of the niobia surface with a solution of MTO. Both methods are well-described [14]. A large variety of catalytic reactions were efficiently performed with niobia-supported MTO such as olefin metathesis catalysis [13,14], reactions of ethyl diazoacetate [15], heteroatom oxidation (amine and phosphine oxidations), and olefin epoxidation with hydrogen peroxide (Scheme 1). Olefin epoxidation with the system H_2O_2/MTO , the latter being supported on niobia in the presence of urea was successfully applied with even better results than under homogeneous conditions thereby transforming simple olefin substrates to unsaturated fatty acids and esters [16,17].

2.1.1.2. Zeolites. A series of zeolite-Y hosts containing different proton concentrations has been used for MTO encapsulation [38] and the resulting materials were studied for 1-hexene metathesis. The MTO molecule is activated by the intra-zeolite protons, and subsequently blocks their isomerisation activity. The ability to tune intra-zeolite acidity and the doping levels of the intact MTO precatalyst permits control over selectivity in the metathesis reaction.

The MTO-catalysed oxidation of silanes to silanols (Fig. 1) and epoxidation of olefins by aqueous H_2O_2 exhibits product chemo-selectivities (no siloxane or diols are observed as by-products) in the presence of zeolite-Y [24]. The confinement of the oxidative species inside the 12 Å supercages of the zeolite prevents bimolecular condensation of silanol to siloxane by steric means.



Scheme 1. Examples of oxidation reactions catalysed by MTO on Niobia supports.

Fig. 1. MTO-catalysed oxidation of silanes to silanols.

In the case of olefin epoxidation, the formation of the diol is prevented since MTO and the epoxide are topologically separated (MTO is absorbed in the zeolite whereas the epoxide remains in solution). This usually leads to very high selectivity (about 95%).

Another study shows that thermal treatment of $\text{Re}_2\text{O}_7/\text{H}-\text{MFI}$ mixtures, leads to the selective grafting of Re-oxo species onto the zeolite via sublimation by the reactions of formed –OH groups to give Si–O_fReO₃–Al [39]. The formed catalyst shows high reactivity, particularly for the oxidation of C₂H₅OH with turnover rates independent of Re loading.

2.1.2. Functionalised silica matrices

MTO has been heterogenised inside the porous systems of hybrid silica matrices [19,20]. Thus, it has been supported on silica functionalised by polyether [19]. These polyethers are covalently attached to silicate particles using sol-gel procedures and act as the solvent for the catalyst (Scheme 2). In the absence of an organic solvent, this assembly catalyses cyclohexene epoxidation with 30% aqueous H_2O_2 in high selectivity especially when the ringopening products (diols) often observed in homogeneous media are considered. A balance between polyethylene oxide PEO (hydrophilic) and polypropylene oxide PPO (more hydrophobic) gives the best results (Fig. 2).

The oxidation of various other alkenes using the optimal heterogeneous system of 10% PEO to 10% PPO (Fig. 3) was compared to a typical homogeneous reaction using MeOH as solvent. Compared to the homogeneous standard, the polyether tethered, silica-encapsulated catalysts show somewhat lower activity but a much better selectivity.



Scheme 2. Encapsulation of MTO in silica functionalised by polyethylene oxide (PEO) and polypropylene oxide (PPO).



Fig. 2. Epoxidation of cyclohexene.



Fig. 3. Alkene oxidation using polyether tethered, silica encapsulated catalysts.

MTO has also been confined in mesoporous materials functionalised with N-donors like pyridine or N.N-donor ligands such as bipyridine. Via sol-gel methods using 1,4bis(triethoxysilvl)benzene as a co-condensation agent and 4-[(3-triethoxysilyl)propylamino]pyridine. Hydrochloride as a hydrolysable ligand, hybrid silica matrices bearing pyridine moieties were prepared [13] (Scheme 3, N-donor). Combined with MTO and H_2O_2 the resulting agents were proven highly selective and recyclable as olefin heterogeneous epoxidation catalysts. MTO has also been immobilised on the mesoporous silica material MCM-41 functionalised by pendant bipyridyl groups (bpy) (4-[(- $O_{3}Si(CH_{2})_{4}$ -4'-CH₃-2,2'-bipyridine) to form a hybrid MCM-41-bpy/MTO material (Scheme 3, N,N-donor) [21]. When the metal loading is very high (10.24 wt.% giving an Re:N molar ratio of 1:1.1), analyses show that in fact some rhenium atoms remain uncoordinated in the MCM channels.

Another route to immobilise an organorhenium(VII) oxide derived from MTO on the surface of an iodosilane-modified MCM-41 was applied (Scheme 4).

The resulting material contains 1.25 wt.% Re and is actually an immobilized benzyltrioxorhenium(VII) [40]. In spite of the pronounced temperature sensitivity of pure benzyltrioxorhenium, the immobilized compound is far more stable. However, as benzyltrioxorhenium itself, it is not stable in the presence of H_2O_2 , and therefore could not be used for olefin epoxidation. Instead, it was successfully utilized for aldehyde olefination reactions [22] (Scheme 5).

MTO immobilised on MCM-41 functionalised with a pyrazolpyridine ligand was applied [41a] after the mesostructured ligand–silica was found to be an effective solidstate complexation material for oxodiperoxo molybdenum



Scheme 3. MTO confined in silica matrices functionalised with *N*-donors and *N*,*N*-donors.



Scheme 4. Immobilisation of trioxorhenium (VII) moiety derived from MTO on a iodosilane-modified MCM.



Scheme 5. Benzaldehyde olefination with ethyl diazoacetate/triphenylphosphine/MCM-supported trioxorhenium (VII) catalyst.

and manganese acetonitrile complexes [41b,41c,41d,41e]. The resulting material had a loading of about 35%, likely due to the weak host–guest interaction of the monodentate coordination of the pyridyl nitrogen atoms of the anchored ligands to the Re(VII) centres. The catalytic properties of the material however are yet to be completely explored.

MTO has also been immobilised on the surface of an amorphous silica–alumina, which generates a catalyst for olefin metathesis [42]. The nature of the silica–alumina interaction with the grafted organometallic complex has been studied extensively and the application of the system as a catalyst with higher efficiency is being explored.

Mesoporous silicates and aluminiosilicate molecular sieves surfaces are also used for the immobilisation of acylperrhenate [43] using the available silanol and acidic hydroxy groups. The resulting material was used for olefin epoxidation with cyclooctene as the substrate and H_2O_2 as the oxidising agent. The non-aluminium surfaces (MCM-41 and MCM-48) show conversions above 80% as compared to those of the aluminium surfaces, which lie between 59% and 70%. This may be due to the stronger electron-donating capability of the Al-containing surfaces thereby reducing the Lewis acidity of the metal centre as well as the catalytic activity. Although the selectivities and activities of the catalysts are high there still remain problems of catalyst deactivation and leaching.

2.2. Organic supports

2.2.1. System MTO/UHP (urea hydroperoxide)

One large drawback of olefin epoxidation with MTO/ H_2O_2 lies in the epoxide ring-opening reactions which form the corresponding diol. These undesirable reactions can be prevented partially when operating under anhydrous conditions in *tert*-butanol. The system MTO/UHP (UHP =

urea hydrogen peroxide) was also proven to be a very good alternative. The urea (and therefore the inclusion complex formed by MTO with urea) is insoluble in most organic solvents. As a result, the system – MTO/UHP/organic phase is heterogenous. The MTO/UHP combination was found to be very efficient for olefin epoxidation [25] and silane oxidation [26], exhibiting higher yields and selectivities than those obtained in the homogeneous processes. This can be attributed to an increased stability of MTO when inclusion complexes with urea are formed. As the reaction is supposed to take place inside the helical urea channels, the condensation of the silanol produced is prevented for steric reasons (Fig. 4).

Even stereoidal dienes, uracil, and purine have been successfully oxidised by the MTO/UHP system [27–29]. The conversion and selectivity towards silanols are very high when a heterogeneous MTO/UHP system is used are significantly better than the homogeneous MTO/ H_2O_2 (85%) combination. The presence of urea is not only beneficial for the efficiency and the chemoselectivity, but also for stereoselectivity. Thus, (+)-(α -Np)PhMeSiH is converted with retention of its configuration to (+)-(α -Np)PhMeSiOH with a high enantiomeric excess (91%) using the MTO/UHP system, whereas almost no enantioselectivity is observed with MTO/H₂O₂ (85%) (Scheme 6).



Fig. 4. Silane oxidation using the MTO/UHP system.



Scheme 6. Oxidation of an uracil derivative by MTO/H₂O₂ system or MTO/UHP combination.

2.2.2. Organic polymers

Herrmann and co-workers prepared heterogeneous MTO compounds in which MTO was assumed to be bound to the support by coordination with one nitrogen atom [30,31]. Unreticulated poly(4-vinylpyridine), poly(2-vinylpyridine), poly(vinylpyrrolidone), polyacrylamide and nylon-6 were used as organic supports. When applied to the epoxidation of olefins (cyclohexene, methyl oleate, allyl alcohols) with dried H_2O_2 in *tert*-butanol, these systems lead to low yields (20–27%) of epoxide. Ten years later, Saladino and co-workers used this concept to prepare two families of organic polymer supported MTO [32]. PVP/MTO and PVPN/MTO systems are based on poly(4-vinylpyridine), whereas PS/MTO are obtained from polystyrene. Cross-linkage is accomplished by divinylbenzene (Scheme 7).

Depending on the loading factor (0.5 or 1.0 mmol MTO/g support) and more importantly on the reticulation grade, these catalytic systems were proven very efficient and selective for olefin epoxidation with H₂O₂. The exceptional recycling capability of the PVP/MTO system highlights the stability of this system compared to the PS/ MTO system which shows a decrease in activity during recycling. This difference in behaviour may be due to the weaker interaction between MTO and the PS polymer, which is only accomplished by the physical envelopment of the benzene ring. The PVP/MTO combination was successfully used for other compounds of biological interest such as terpenes. Even highly sensitive terpenic epoxides, like α -pinene oxide, can been obtained in excellent yields using polymer supported MTO catalysts [33] (Scheme 8). Compared to homogeneous conditions with MTO in the



Scheme 7. MTO on polyvinylpyridine and polystyrene supports (n is the cross-linkage percent with divinylbenzene).



Scheme 8. Epoxidation of terpenes with H2O2/polymer supported MTO at room temperature in CH2CI2/MeCN.



Scheme 9. Baeyer-Villiger reaction catalysed by the PVP/MTO/H₂O₂ system.

presence of pyridine, selectivities improve using polymer supported MTO.

The heterogeneous PVP/MTO/ H_2O_2 system was additionally proven efficient and selective for the conversion of naringenin and hesperetin into lactones by a Baeyer–Villiger reaction [27] (Scheme 9). In less than 8 h, 75–100% conversion was reached with 35–80% selectivity.

C–H insertion reactions with H_2O_2 catalysed by PVP/ MTO were also achieved starting from hydrocarbons and producing ketones and alcohols [28] (Scheme 10).

Polymer-supported MTO systems were shown to be efficient catalysts for the oxidative functionalisation of cyclohexane and cyclopentane derivatives with H_2O_2 as the oxygen donor [44]. Using poly(4-vinyl)pyridine and poly(4vinyl)pyridine-*N*-oxide as MTO supports, cycloalkanol, cycloalkanediol, cycloalkanone and ω -hydroxy methyl ketone derivatives were obtained. The selectivity of the reactions was found to be correlated both to the structural properties of the poly(4-vinyl)pyridine support and to the stereochemical properties of the substrate.

Saladino et al. followed their previous work [32,44] with another publication with MTO immobilised on polymer supports [45]. Poly(4-vinylpyridine)/MTO catalysts poly(4-vinylpyridine) *N*-oxide/MTO catalysts and microencapsulated polystyrene/MTO and MTO-2-(aminomethyl)pyridine catalysts were used for the oxidation of various hydrocarbon derivatives to the corresponding alcohols or ketones (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Examples of oxidation reactions with MTO supported on polymers.

2.3. Ionic liquids

The catalytic potential of the MTO/UHP oxidation system has also been tested in the room temperature ionic liquid [EMIM][BF₄], in which it is soluble [37] (Fig. 6). In contrast the olefin is poorly soluble in such solvents and so the whole system is bi-phasic. Excellent conversions and selectivities for the epoxides of a wide number of olefinic substrates were reached under these anhydrous conditions. The exception was 1-decene, which displayed poor



Scheme 10. Example of C–H insertion reactions catalysed by the PVP/ $\rm MTO/H_2O_2$ system.



Fig. 6. Epoxidation of various substrates with MTO/UHP in [EMIM]BF₄.



Scheme 11. Recyclability of PS-2%/MTO/H₂O₂/RTIL [BMIM]PF₆ system used for oxidation reactions.



Scheme 12. Example of Baeyer–Villiger oxidation achieved by MTO $(2\%)/H_2O_2$ (50% aqueous) system in RTIL [BMIM][BF₄].

conversion resulting in phase transfer problems as it is the least soluble substrate in the ionic liquid.

Remaining reactants and products are both easily removed from the reaction mixture via extraction with an organic solvent such as diethyl ether, which is immiscible with the ionic liquid. Unfortunately, MTO cannot be retained in ionic liquids during the liquid/liquid extraction of the reaction mixture for recycling due to its high solubility in a wide range of molecular solvents. However, when MTO is additionally supported by an organic polymer, recycling becomes possible. For example, the system PS- $2\%/MTO/H_2O_2$ in RTIL [BMIM]PF₆ which is an efficient and selective catalytic system for various oxidation reactions can be fully recovered [36] (Scheme 11).

The Baeyer–Villiger oxidation of cyclic ketones was also achieved by the MTO/H_2O_2 system in the ionic liquid $[BMIM][BF_4]$ [31] (Scheme 12). Kinetic investigations have additionally been performed in order to follow the formation of the catalytically active peroxorhenium intermediates in the RTIL's [46,47].

That the Baeyer–Villiger oxidation of cyclic ketones can be effected by methyltrioxorhenium/hydrogen peroxide in the ionic liquid [bmim]BF₄ was later confirmed by Bernini et al. [48]. After simple extraction of the lactone with diethyl ether, the catalyst can be repeatedly recycled and efficiently reused for the lactonisation process in the same reaction medium.

2.4. Mesoporous alumina

Very recently work on the immobilisation of MTO on a mesoporous alumina carrier material [49] was reported. A zinc chloride-modified mesoporous alumina, ZnCl₂// meso-Al₂O₃, with a high surface area, relatively uniform mesopores, and Lewis acidic character carrier material was made. Using this material it was found that MTO doped on the alumina, MTO/ZnCl₂//meso-Al₂O₃, demonstrated higher catalytic performance for the metathesis of functionalized olefins than the system of MTO on SiO₂-Al₂O₃ (MTO/SiO₂-Al₂O₃). ZnCl₂//meso-Al₂O₃ immobilizes MTO on its solid surface and activates MTO enough to accelerate the metathesis of functionalized olefins. The

authors of this work claim their methodology to be with the first outstanding activation of organometallic complexes with an acidic carrier composed of mesoporous alumina and immobilized Lewis acidic zinc chloride reported in the literature.

Methyltrioxorhenium (MTO) has also been immobilized on various commercially available supporting materials (like AlO-SiO and NbO) via sublimation under vacuum [50]. Up to 15 wt.% MTO (10 wt.% Re) can be immobilized on the different supporting materials. Metathesis experiments using *cis*-cyclooctene as substrate were performed aiming at a high yield of low molecular weight metathesis products (dimers, trimers, and tetramers), which are interesting for aroma and flavor industries. Up to ca. 60% of these desired products can be obtained. A high rhenium loading leads usually to good catalytic activities of the materials in the cyclooctene metathesis. Prolonged reaction times lead to higher yields of the high molecular weight metathesis products. When the same catalvst material is used repeatedly in several catalytic runs, leaching of the grafted Re compounds plays an increasing role, resulting in a reduction of the catalyst performance. None of the examined commercially available carrier materials, however, present an ideal means for the heterogenization of MTO to obtain particularly high amounts of the desired low molecular weight metathesis products of cyclooctene.

2.5. Resins

Novel heterogeneous aminated polystyrene and polyacrylate resins and vinylpyridine copolymerized with methylmethacrylate and buthylmethacrylate, were synthesized, characterized and used as supports for MTO immobilization [51]. The amount of rhenium incorporated and the interaction between N and Re varied with the ligand type and the polymer. It was seen that MTO immobilized on oxidized supports was more prone to leaching than non-oxidized supports. MTO supported on copolymers was more effective for the epoxidation of α -pinene than MTO supported on tertiary amines or commercial polyvinylpyridine.

3. Conclusion

Considerable progress has been made in research on organorhenium oxide catalysts in the last 10 years. Heterogeneous systems have been developed with particular emphasis on the supporting systems including zeolites, mesoporous materials and others. As a result efficient and reasonably selective catalysts are now available for various reactions like olefin epoxidation in particular and other oxidation reactions, metathesis etc. Besides the combination system of MTO with UHP, polymer supports for catalysts are also successfully used. The systems exhibit the required properties of selectivity, activity and recyclability. There is also high possibility in the future of having highly enantioselective heterogeneous epoxidation catalysts tolerating a broad variety of substrates.

References

- [1] I.R. Beattie, P.J. Jones, Inorg. Chem. 18 (1999) 2318.
- [2] W.A. Herrmann, J.G. Kuchler, J.K. Felixberger, E. Herdtweck, W. Wagner, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 27 (1988) 394.
- [3] W.A. Herrmann, F.E. Kühn, R.W. Fischer, W.R. Thiel, C.C. Romão, Inorg. Chem. 31 (1992) 4431.
- [4] W.A. Herrmann, R.M. Kratzer, R.W. Fischer, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 36 (1997) 2652.
- [5] W.A. Herrmann, A.M.J. Rost, J.K.M. Mitterpleininger, N. Szesni, W. Sturm, R.W. Fischer, F.E. Kühn, Angew. Chem. 119 (2007) 7440; Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 46 (2007) 7301.
- [6] C.C. Romão, F.E. Kühn, W.A. Herrmann, Chem. Rev. 97 (1997) 3197.
- [7] F.E. Kühn, K.R. Jain, M. Zhou, Rare Metals 25 (2006) 411.
- [8] F.E. Kühn, A.M. Santos, M. Abrantes, Chem. Rev. 106 (2006) 2455.
- [9] J. Rudolph, K.L. Reddy, J.P. Chiang, K.B. Sharpless, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 6189.
- [10] F.E. Kühn, A.M. Santos, P.W. Roesky, E. Herdtweck, W. Scherer, P. Gisdakis, I.V. Yudanov, C. di Valentin, N. Rösch, Chem. Eur. J. 5 (1999) 3603.
- [11] M. Zhou, J. Zhou, J. Li, S. Yue, C. Bao, J. Mink, S. Zang, F.E. Kühn, Chem. Eur. J. 13 (2007) 158.
- [12] R. Buffon, M. Leconte, J.M. Basset, R. Touroude, J. Mol. Catal. A 72 (1992) 139.
- [13] R. Buffon, A. Choplin, M. Leconte, J.M. Basset, R. Touroude, W.A. Herrmann, J. Mol. Catal. A 72 (1992) L7.
- [14] R. Buffon, A. Auroux, F. Lefebvre, M. Leconte, A. Choplin, J.M. Basset, W.A. Herrmann, J. Mol. Catal. A 76 (1992) 287.
- [15] Z. Zhu, J.H. Espenson, J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 121 (1997) 139.
- [16] A.O. Bouh, J.H. Espenson, J. Mol. Catal. A 200 (2003) 43.
- [17] M. Li, J.H. Espenson, J. Mol. Catal. A 208 (2004) 123.
- [18] W.A. Herrmann, J.G. Kuchler, J.K. Felixberger, E. Herdtweck, W. Wagner, Anal. Chem. 27 (1998) 394.
- [19] R. Neumann, T.J. Wang, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. (1997) 1915.
- [20] K. Dallmann, R. Buffon, Catal. Commun. 1 (2000) 9.
- [21] C.D. Nunes, M. Pillinger, A.A. Valente, I.S. Gonçalves, J. Rocha, P. Ferreira, F.E. Kühn, Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. (2002) 1100.
- [22] A. Sakthivel, G. Raudaschl-Sieber, F.E. Kühn, Dalton Trans. (2006) 468.
- [23] T.J. Wang, D.C. Li, J.H. Bai, M.Y. Huang, Y.Y. Jiang, J. Macromol. Sci. Pure Appl. Chem. 35 (1998) 531.
- [24] W. Adam, C.R. Saha-Möller, O. Weichold, J. Org. Chem. 65 (2000) 2897.
- [25] W. Adam, C.M. Mitchell, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 35 (1996) 533.
- [26] W. Adam, C.M. Mitchell, C.R. Saha-Möller, O. Weichold, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 121 (1999) 2097.
- [27] R. Saladino, P. Carlucci, M.C. Danti, C. Crestini, E. Mincione, Tetrahedron 56 (2000) 10031.
- [28] D. Sica, D. Musumeci, F. Zollo, S. de Marino, Eur. J. Org. Chem. 19 (2001) 3731.
- [29] D. Sica, D. Musumeci, F. Zollo, S. de Marino, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 (2001) 1889.

- [30] W.A. Herrmann, W. Wagner, U.N. Flessner, U. Volkhardt, H. Komber, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 30 (1991) 1636.
- [31] W.A. Herrmann, D.M. Fritz-Meyer-Weg, W. Wagner, K.J.G., G. Weichselbaumer, R.W. Fischer, US Patent 155 (1992) 247.
- [32] R. Saladino, V. Neri, A.R. Pellicia, R. Caminiti, C. Sadun, J. Org. Chem. 67 (2002) 1323.
- [33] R. Saladino, V. Neri, A.R. Pellicci, E. Mincione, Tetrahedron 59 (2003) 7403.
- [34] R. Bernini, E. Mincione, M. Cortese, R. Saladino, G. Gualandi, M.C. Belfiore, Tetrahedron Lett. 44 (2003) 4823.
- [35] G. Bianchini, M. Crucianelli, F. de Angelis, V. Neri, R. Saladino, Tetrahedron Lett. 45 (2004) 2351.
- [36] G. Bianchini, M. Crucianelli, F. de Angelis, V. Neri, R. Saladino, Tetrahedron Lett. 46 (2005) 2427.
- [37] G.S. Owens, M.M. Abu-Oma, Chem. Commun. (2000) 1165.
- [38] T. Bein, C. Huber, K. Moller, C.G. Wu, L. Xu, Chem. Mater. 9 (1997) 2252.
- [39] H.S. Lacheen, P.J. Cordeiro, E. Iglesia, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128 (2006) 15082.
- [40] W.A. Herrmann, F.E. Kühn, C.C. Romão, H. Tran Huy, J. Organomet. Chem. 481 (1994) 227.
- [41] (a) S. Gago, J.A. Fernandes, M. Abrantes, F.E. Kühn, P. Ribeiro-Claro, M. Pillinger, T.M. Santos, I.S. Gonçalves, Micropor. Mesopor. Mater. 89 (2006) 284;
 (b) M.J. Jia, W.R. Thiel, Chem. Commun. (2002) 2392;
 (c) M.J. Jia, A. Seifert, W.R. Thiel, Chem. Mater. 15 (2003) 2174;
 (d) M.J. Jia, A. Seifert, M. Berger, H. Giegengack, S. Schulze, W.R. Thiel, Chem. Mater. 16 (2004) 877;
 (e) S. Gago, Y. Zhang, A.M. Santos, K. Köhler, F.E. Kühn, J.A. Fernandes, M. Pillinger, A.A. Valante, T.M. Santos, P.J.A. Ribeiro-Claro, I.S. Gonçalves, Micropor. Mesopor. Mater. 76 (2004) 131.
- [42] A.W. Moses, N.A. Ramsahye, C. Raab, H.D. Leifeste, S. Chattopadhyay, B.F. Chmelka, J. Eckert, S.L. Scott, Organometallics 25 (2006) 2157.
- [43] D. Veljanovski, A. Sakthivel, W.A. Herrmann, F.E. Kühn, Adv. Synth. Catal. 348 (2006) 1752.
- [44] G. Bianchini, M. Crucianelli, C. Canevali, C. Crestini, F. Morazzoni, R. Saladino, Tetrahedron 62 (2006) 12326.
- [45] G. Bianchini, M. Crucianelli, C. Crestini, R. Saladino, Top. Catal. 40 (2006) 221.
- [46] G.S. Owens, M.M. Abu-Omar, J. Mol. Catal. A 187 (2002) 215.
- [47] G.S. Owens, A. Durazo, M.M. Abu-Omar, Chem. Eur. J. 8 (2002) 3053.
- [48] R. Bernini, A. Coratti, G. Fabrizi, A. Goggiamani, Tetrahedron Lett. 44 (2003) 8991.
- [49] T. Oikawa, Y. Masui, T. Tanaka, Y. Chujo, M. Onaka, J. Organomet. Chem. (2007) 554.
- [50] A.M.J. Rost, H. Schneider, J.P. Zoller, W.A. Herrmann, F.E. Kühn, J. Organomet. Chem. 690 (2005) 4712.
- [51] L.M.R. González, A.L.P. de Villa, C. Consuelo de Montes, G. Gelbard, React. Funct. Polym. 65 (2005) 169.



Kavita R. Jain did her masters studies on industrial chemistry with the German Institute of Science and Technology (GIST) – a joint masters program of the National University of Singapore (NUS) and the TUM, Germany and worked on a collaboration project with the BASF company in Ludwigshafen, Germany, during her masters thesis. She is currently doing her Ph.D at the TUM in Garching in the group of Prof. Kühn in the field of organometallic catalysis. She is holding a grant of the Bayerische Forschungsstiftung,

Ph.D member of the International Graduate School of Science and Engineering (IGSSE) and her Ph.D work is performed within the framework of the Bavarian excellence network NanoCat.



Fritz E. Kühn studied chemistry at the Technische Universität München (TUM), Germany, where he received his Ph.D. under the direction of W.A. Herrmann in 1994. After working as a postdoctoral research associate in the group of F. A. Cotton (Texas A&M University, USA) 1995/1996 he performed his Habilitation in Munich to become Privatdozent in 2000. From June 2005 to March 2006 he replaced W.A. Herrmann on the Chair of Inorganic Chemistry of the TUM. In February 2006, he was appointed Principal

Researcher in the fields of Catalysis and Organometallic Chemistry at the

Instituto Técnológico e Nuclear (ITN) in Sacavém, Portugal. In December 2006, he was appointed Professor for Molecular Catalysis at the TUM in Garching, Germany. F.E. Kühn is author or co-author of more than 180 scientific papers and has received several scientific awards.